

Journal of the House

Friday, February 27, 2015

At nine o'clock and thirty minutes in the forenoon the Speaker called the House to order.

Devotional Exercises

Devotional exercises were conducted by Chief Don Stevens, Nulhegan Band of the Coosuk - Abenaki Nation.

Message from the Senate No. 25

A message was received from the Senate by Mr. Marshall, its Assistant Secretary, as follows:

Mr. Speaker:

I am directed to inform the House that:

The Senate has on its part passed Senate bills of the following titles:

S. 9. An act relating to improving Vermont's system for protecting children from abuse and neglect.

S. 98. An act relating to captive insurance companies and risk retention groups.

In the passage of which the concurrence of the House is requested.

The Senate has on its part adopted joint resolution of the following title:

J.R.S. 9. Joint resolution encouraging public high schools to explore recruiting and enrolling international students on F-1 student visas in order to promote tuition based income while also exposing F-1 students and our public school K-12 Vermont students to enriched cross cultural learning experiences.

In the adoption of which the concurrence of the House is requested.

Rules Suspended; House Bills Introduced

Pending first reading of the bills, on motion of **Rep. Savage of Swanton**, the rules were suspended and the bills were read the first time by number and referred or placed on the Calendar as follows:

H. 341

By Reps. Masland of Thetford and Briglin of Thetford,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to a role for municipal government in the siting of small solar net metering systems;

To the committee on Natural Resources & Energy.

H. 342

By Rep. Buxton of Tunbridge,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to exempting temporary yard sale signs from the sign law;

To the committee on General, Housing & Military Affairs.

H. 343

By Reps. Grad of Moretown, Batchelor of Derby, Burditt of West Rutland, Canfield of Fair Haven, Fiske of Enosburgh, Frank of Underhill, Hebert of Vernon, Helm of Fair Haven, Higley of Lowell, Hubert of Milton, Strong of Albany and Tate of Mendon,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to the provision of traumatic brain injury services to family members of active duty Service members;

To the committee on Human Services.

H. 344

By Rep. Krowinski of Burlington,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to the Needle Education, Exchange, and Disposal Task Force;

To the committee on Human Services.

H. 345

By Rep. Rachelson of Burlington,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to creating a statewide school district;

To the committee on Education.

H. 346

By Rep. Rachelson of Burlington,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to requiring school districts to count average daily membership twice annually;

To the committee on Education.

H. 347

By Reps. Krowinski of Burlington, Burke of Brattleboro, Cole of Burlington, Donovan of Burlington, Hooper of Montpelier, Kitzmiller of Montpelier, Martin of Wolcott, McCormack of Burlington, Mrowicki of Putney, Pearson of Burlington, Rachelson of Burlington, Stuart of Brattleboro, Sullivan of Burlington, Toleno of Brattleboro and Woodward of Johnson,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to election day registration;

To the committee on Government Operations.

H. 348

By Rep. Shaw of Pittsford,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to establishing the Training Center Governance Committee;

To the committee on Government Operations.

H. 349

By Reps. Ellis of Waterbury and Stevens of Waterbury,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to the award of attorney's fees in environmental actions;

To the committee on Judiciary.

H. 350

By Reps. Masland of Thetford, Briglin of Thetford, Conquest of Newbury and Young of Glover,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to commercial haulers of solid waste;

To the committee on Natural Resources & Energy.

H. 351

By Reps. Botzow of Pownal and Marcotte of Coventry,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to adopting revisions to the Vermont Common Interest Ownership Act;

To the committee on Commerce & Economic Development.

H. 352

By Reps. Masland of Thetford, Bartholomew of Hartland, Briglin of Thetford, Buxton of Tunbridge, Christie of Hartford, Clarkson of Woodstock, French of Randolph, Haas of Rochester, Hooper of Montpelier, Kitzmiller of Montpelier, Young of Glover and Zagar of Barnard,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to pole attachments;

To the committee on Commerce & Economic Development.

H. 353

By Reps. Masland of Thetford, Briglin of Thetford, Buxton of Tunbridge, Christie of Hartford, Clarkson of Woodstock, Haas of Rochester, Hooper of Montpelier, Kitzmiller of Montpelier and Zagar of Barnard,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to the creation of municipal telecommunications districts;

To the committee on Commerce & Economic Development.

H. 354

By Reps. Partridge of Windham and Trieber of Rockingham,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to clarifying the meaning of food processing for the purpose of the manufacturer's exemption to Vermont's sales and use tax;

To the committee on Ways & Means.

H. 355

By Rep. Sweaney of Windsor,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to licensing and regulating foresters;

To the committee on Government Operations.

H. 356

By Rep. Klein of East Montpelier,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to an income tax checkoff for the General Fund;

To the committee on Ways & Means.

H. 357

By Rep. Burditt of West Rutland,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to leaving a child or person under care of another unattended in a motor vehicle;

To the committee on Transportation.

H. 358

By Reps. Smith of New Haven, Bancroft of Westford, Batchelor of Derby, Beyor of Highgate, Branagan of Georgia, Canfield of Fair Haven, Devereux of Mount Holly, Graham of Williamstown, Higley of Lowell, Hubert of Milton, Lefebvre of Newark, Lewis of Berlin, Pearce of Richford, Purvis of Colchester, Quimby of Concord, Shaw of Pittsford, Shaw of Derby, Strong of Albany, Terenzini of Rutland Town and Van Wyck of Ferrisburgh,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to siting and decommissioning of solar generation facilities;

To the committee on Natural Resources & Energy.

H. 359

By Reps. Smith of New Haven, Bancroft of Westford, Batchelor of Derby, Beyor of Highgate, Brennan of Colchester, Canfield of Fair Haven, Connor of Fairfield, Conquest of Newbury, Dakin of Colchester, Dickinson of St. Albans Town, Donahue of Northfield, Feltus of Lyndon, Gage of Rutland City, Hebert of Vernon, Hubert of Milton, Lewis of Berlin, Pearce of Richford, Purvis of Colchester, Shaw of Pittsford and Van Wyck of Ferrisburgh,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to including existing industrial parks and locally designated expansion areas in Act 250's definition of "existing settlement";

To the committee on Natural Resources & Energy.

H. 360

By Reps. Smith of New Haven, Graham of Williamstown and Shaw of Derby,

House bill, entitled

An act relating to solar generation facilities and primary agricultural soils;

To the committee on Natural Resources & Energy.

H. 361

By the committee on Education,

An act relating to making amendments to education funding, education spending, and education governance;

Under the rule, placed on the Calendar for notice.

S. 9

Senate bill, entitled

An act relating to improving Vermont's system for protecting children from abuse and neglect;

To the committee on Judiciary.

S. 98

Senate bill, entitled

An act relating to captive insurance companies;

To the committee on Commerce & Economic Development.

Bills Referred to Committee on Ways and Means

House bills of the following titles, appearing on the Calendar, affecting the revenue of the state, under the rule, were referred to the Committee on Ways and Means:

H. 117

House bill, entitled

An act relating to creating a Division for Telecommunications and Connectivity within the Department of Public Service

H. 361

House bill, entitled

An act relating to making amendments to education funding, education

spending, and education governance

Joint Resolution Referred to Committee

J.R.S. 9

By Senators Doyle, Balint, Baruth, Cummings, and Mullin,

J.R.S. 9. Joint resolution encouraging public high schools to explore recruiting and enrolling international students on F-1 student visas in order to promote tuition-based income.

Whereas, student enrollment in public K–12 education in the State declined over 20 percent between fiscal years 1997 and 2014, with population projections indicating a continued decline for the foreseeable future, and

Whereas, schools in the State have the lowest class sizes in the nation, and

Whereas, total State spending on education continues to escalate, increasing by three and five percent in fiscal years 2013 and 2014 respectively, so that the State has the highest per-pupil spending in the nation, and

Whereas, the rising cost of public education increasingly burdens taxpayers and places fiscal stresses on schools that may soon affect the quality of education provided, and

Whereas, federal law permits both private schools and public high schools to enroll international students on F-1 visas, which are visas issued to nonimmigrant foreigners for the purpose of academic study in the United States, but limits attendance in public high schools to 12 months and requires that F-1 students reimburse public high schools for the full unsubsidized per capita cost of their education, and

Whereas, international students are increasingly obtaining F-1 visas to enroll in U.S. private and public high schools, from approximately 6,500 total F-1 students in 2007 to approximately 65,000 in 2012, in order to improve English language skills and enhance opportunities to enroll in U.S. universities, and

Whereas, dozens of high schools in the State, including multiple public high schools, are already federally certified to enroll international students on F-1 visas, and

Whereas, although most international students on F-1 visas enroll in private schools, public high schools may be able to offer comparatively lower tuition rates, so that some of these students may prefer to attend public schools despite federal restrictions limiting their enrollment in public schools to 12 months, and

Whereas, the State has much to offer international students, including public schools ranked among the best in the nation, vibrant local communities, low crime rates, clean air and water, natural beauty, and extensive outdoor recreational opportunities, and

Whereas, tuition paid to public schools by international students on F-1 visas could reduce fiscal burdens on taxpayers and schools, and room and board paid by these students could financially benefit local families and communities, and

Whereas, public high school students could benefit from learning alongside culturally diverse international students; students attending participating public high schools in the State could receive a more global perspective that would better prepare them for postsecondary school and the workforce; and participating public high schools could attract additional students from other towns and states, and

Whereas, enrolling international students on F-1 visas in public high schools could help stabilize school enrollment numbers, thus increasing resources available to students or avoiding potential resource reductions, and

Whereas, it could be competitively advantageous to be among the earliest of public high schools to develop recruitment and enrollment programs for international students with F-1 visas, *now therefore be it*

Resolved by the Senate and House of Representatives:

That the General Assembly requests that administrators of public high schools in the State explore the possibility of recruiting and enrolling international students on F-1 visas, and that the Agency of Education encourage and support these administrators' efforts, *and be it further*

Resolved: That the Secretary of State be directed to send a copy of this resolution to Rebecca Holcombe, Secretary of Education, and to the Vermont Superintendents Association for transmittal to each superintendent in the State whose school district or supervisory union includes a public high school.

Which was read and, in the Speaker's discretion, treated as a bill and referred to the Committee on Education.

Remarks Journalized

On motion of **Rep. Webb of Shelburne**, the following remarks by **Chief Don Stevens, Nulhegan Band of the Coosuk-Abenaki Nation** were ordered printed in the Journal:

“Mr. Speaker:

State House Devotional – by Chief Stevens – Nulhegan Abenaki Tribe.

I want to thank Joan Lenes for asking me to give the devotional today.

I understand that it is an awesome responsibility to be a representative of the people. You rise each morning in hopes that the Great Spirit will work through you to help others. To guide your path through the murky waters of information that is presented to you each day. You listen, contemplate, and decide on laws that change people's lives - in many different ways. You try to strike a balance with all you see and hear - from those around you. I do not know who your mentors may be - but I am personally inspired by the wisdom of many great Native leaders who came before me, like Chief Seattle and many others, when making decisions affecting my people.

There are many things we do not understand - but one thing we know for sure, every part of the Earth is sacred and holy. We are all from the earth. Our breath gives life to the plants and in turn - gives us life. We are all connected in the circle of life. It is important that we come together in days such as this one, to share our words.

We feel the sap that courses through the Vermont maple trees - just as we feel the blood that courses through our veins. We are part of the earth - and it is a part of us. The plants, the trees, the waters, the animals, and the people - are all part of the same family.

As legislators, you will be working to clean up our Lakes. Always remember - the Lakes and rivers hold the memories of our ancestors. The reflections in the lake tell of events and memories of our past struggles and joys. Our bodies are mostly water, it is our brother - the rivers quench our thirst. You must be kind and protect the river as if it were your own son - keep its spirit clean and pure.

When you vote on legislation that affects our air, remember that it is precious to us. It shares its spirit with all life it supports. Always remember, the first breath of every child - contains the spirit of life. The wind will also receive the last sigh of your grandfather - right before his spirit is lifted to the creator. Keep our air crisp and clean - for it is sacred. It holds the power of life and death - in the great circle of life. It is important to keep it pure for the next generation.

When you work on laws that affect our environment, remember, what happens to the earth, happens to the people of the earth. We are one strand in the web of life. What we do to that strand, we do to ourselves. Protect the land, and it will provide for our children. The Great Spirit is the creator of all living things which makes us all interconnected under his power.

The earth is precious to the creator, and should be precious to all of us. We do not know the path that any of us will follow in life - but we know this for certain. If we do not protect the earth, it will be the end of living, and the beginning of survival. We should love the earth, as a mother loves her newborn baby. Love and care for the land, and preserve it for our children. Love the land as the Great Spirit loves us. Someday, we will all return to our mother, the earth. We will take the hand of our creator - and continue our spiritual journey to our ancestors. We will complete the circle of life and be at peace with all things.

All things matter in the daily struggles of life. The Great Spirit is there to guide you in these struggles. Ask for guidance, and always remember, when making laws for the people. Protect the natural resources of our planet - for we are the stewards of the land - now and forever.

AHO”

**Committee Relieved of Consideration
and Bill Committed to Other Committee**

S. 72

Rep. Sweaney of Windsor moved that the committee on Government Operations be relieved of Senate bill, entitled

An act relating to binding arbitration for State employees

And that the bill be committed to the committee on General, Housing & Military Affairs, which was agreed to.

**Rules Suspended; Resolution Read the Second Time; Amended
and Third Reading Ordered; Rules Suspended; Resolution Read the
Third Time and Adopted; Rules Suspended and Resolution Ordered
Messaged to the Senate Forthwith**

J.R.H. 5

On motion of **Rep. Savage of Swanton**, the rules were suspended and Joint resolution, entitled

Joint resolution urging the Federal Communications Commission to adopt the new net neutrality rules as Commission Chair Thomas Wheeler has proposed

Appearing on the Calendar for notice, was taken up for immediate consideration.

Rep. Parent of St. Albans City, for the committee on Commerce & Economic Development, reported in favor of its passage when amended by striking the resolution in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Joint resolution commending the Federal Communications Commission on its adoption of new net neutrality rules as Commission Chair Thomas Wheeler proposed

Whereas, in 2015, millions of Americans rely on the Internet for business, educational, economic, entertainment, and health care purposes, and all providers and users of Internet services must be afforded equal access to this primary communications highway, and

Whereas, start-ups and other promising elements of Vermont's high-technology-based creative economy require continuous and affordable access to high-speed Internet services for their economic survival, and

Whereas, net neutrality means that no Internet service or content provider may be relegated to a slower online transmission speed, or be eligible for an accelerated speed upon payment of a special fee, and

Whereas, in Verizon v. F.C.C., 740 F.3d 623 (2014), the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia held that the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) is prohibited from imposing neutrality rules on the Internet because the FCC does not regulate the Internet under Title II of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and

Whereas, in light of this judicial decision, the FCC began to consider proposing new net neutrality rules, and

Whereas, in July 2014, as the FCC was considering possible new rules on net neutrality, U.S. Senator Patrick Leahy chaired Senate Judiciary Committee hearings in Burlington on the need to keep the Internet equally open to all Americans, and he held further hearings on this important topic last September in Washington, D.C., and

Whereas, both the Department of Public Service and the Public Service Board have previously filed comments supporting the FCC's adoption of new net neutrality rules, and

Whereas, at least 3.7 million Americans submitted comments to the FCC about proposed new net neutrality rules, and many of the comments were from consumers who wrote in support of an open and publicly accessible Internet, and

Whereas, on Wednesday, February 4, 2015, Commission Chair Thomas Wheeler announced proposed new Internet regulatory rules providing that the

FCC would begin to regulate the Internet as a utility under Title II of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and

Whereas, the proposed FCC rules would also require neutrality for Internet operations as Internet service providers would be mandated to offer all Internet content providers equal access and not add a surcharge for accelerated transmission speeds, and

Whereas, in addition, the proposed FCC rules would authorize regulation of the back end of the Internet, where content providers have complained that network middlemen have intentionally clogged key Internet transit points, and

Whereas, the FCC voted on the new net neutrality rules on February 26, 2015, now therefore be it

Resolved by the Senate and House of Representatives:

That the General Assembly commends the Federal Communications Commission on its adoption of new net neutrality rules as Commission Chair Thomas Wheeler proposed, and be it further

Resolved: That the Secretary of State be directed to send a copy of this resolution to the Federal Communications Commission and to the Vermont Congressional Delegation.

Thereupon, the resolution was read the second time, report of the committee on Commerce & Economic Development agreed to and third reading ordered.

On motion of **Rep. Savage of Swanton**, the rules were suspended and the resolution placed on all remaining stages of passage.

The resolution was read the third time and adopted and, on motion of **Rep. Savage of Swanton** the rules were suspended and the resolution was ordered messaged to the Senate forthwith.

Bill Amended, Read Third Time and Passed

H. 272

House bill, entitled

An act relating to current use and technical tax changes

Was taken up and pending third reading of the bill, **Rep. Clarkson of Woodstock** moved to amend the bill as follows:

In Sec. 13, by striking out “183” and inserting in lieu thereof “182”

Which was agreed to. Thereupon, the bill was read the third time and passed.

Consideration Interrupted by Recess**H. 40**

Rep. Ellis of Waterbury, for the committee on Natural Resources & Energy, to which had been referred House bill, entitled

An act relating to establishing a renewable energy standard and energy transformation program

Reported in favor of its passage when amended by striking all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Renewable Energy Standard and Energy
Transformation Program * * *

Sec. 1. 30 V.S.A. § 8002 is amended to read:

§ 8002. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

* * *

(3) “CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers, designated as “CPI-U,” in the northeast region, as published by the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

* * *

(6) “Environmental attributes” means the characteristics of a plant that enable the energy it produces to qualify as renewable energy and include any and all benefits of the plant to the environment such as avoided emissions or other impacts to air, water, or soil that may occur through the plant’s displacement of a nonrenewable energy source.

(7) “Existing renewable energy” means renewable energy produced by a plant that came into service prior to or on ~~December 31, 2004~~ June 30, 2015.

* * *

(13) “New renewable energy” means renewable energy produced by a specific and identifiable plant coming into service after ~~December 31, 2004~~ June 30, 2015.

(A) Energy from within a system of generating plants that includes renewable energy shall not constitute new renewable energy, regardless of whether the system includes specific plants that came or come into service after ~~December 31, 2004~~ June 30, 2015.

(B) “New renewable energy” also may include the additional energy from an existing renewable energy plant retrofitted with advanced technologies or otherwise operated, modified, or expanded to increase the kWh output of the plant in excess of an historical baseline established by calculating the average output of that plant for the 10-year period that ended ~~December 31, 2004~~ June 30, 2015. If the production of new renewable energy through changes in operations, modification, or expansion involves combustion of the resource, the system also must result in an incrementally higher level of energy conversion efficiency or significantly reduced emissions.

* * *

(17) “Renewable energy” means energy produced using a technology that relies on a resource that is being consumed at a harvest rate at or below its natural regeneration rate.

(A) For purposes of this subdivision (17), methane gas and other flammable gases produced by the decay of sewage treatment plant wastes or landfill wastes and anaerobic digestion of agricultural products, byproducts, or wastes, or of food wastes, shall be considered renewable energy resources, but no other form of solid waste, other than ~~agricultural~~ or silvicultural waste, shall be considered renewable.

(B) For purposes of this subdivision (17), no form of nuclear fuel shall be considered renewable.

(C) The only portion of electricity produced by a system of generating resources that shall be considered renewable is that portion generated by a technology that qualifies as renewable under this subdivision (17).

(D) The Board by rule may add technologies or technology categories to the definition of “renewable energy,” provided that technologies using the following fuels shall not be considered renewable energy supplies: coal, oil, propane, and natural gas.

(E) In this chapter, renewable energy refers to either “existing renewable energy” or “new renewable energy.”

* * *

(19) “Retail electricity provider” or “provider” means a company engaged in the distribution or sale of electricity directly to the public.

(20) “~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator” means an entity appointed by the Board pursuant to ~~subdivision 8005(b)(1)~~ subsection 8005a(a) of this title.

~~(21) "SPEED resources" means contracts for resources in the SPEED program established under section 8005 of this title that meet the definition of renewable energy under this section, whether or not environmental attributes are attached. [Repealed.]~~

(22) "Tradeable renewable energy credits" means all of the environmental attributes associated with a single unit of energy generated by a renewable energy source where:

(A) those attributes are transferred or recorded separately from that unit of energy;

(B) the party claiming ownership of the tradeable renewable energy credits has acquired the exclusive legal ownership of all, and not less than all, the environmental attributes associated with that unit of energy; and

(C) exclusive legal ownership can be verified through an auditable contract path or pursuant to the system established or authorized by the Board or any program for tracking and verification of the ownership of environmental attributes of energy legally recognized in any state and approved by the Board.

* * *

(24) "Customer" means a retail electric consumer.

(25) "Energy transformation project" means an undertaking that provides energy-related goods or services but does not include or consist of the generation of electricity and that results in a net reduction in fossil fuel consumption by the customers of a retail electricity provider and in the emission of greenhouse gases attributable to that consumption. Examples of energy transformation projects may include home weatherization or other thermal energy efficiency measures; air source or geothermal heat pumps; high efficiency heating systems; increased use of biofuels; biomass heating systems; support for transportation demand management strategies; support for electric vehicles or related infrastructure; and infrastructure for the storage of renewable energy on the electric grid.

(26) "RESET Program" means the Renewable Energy Standard and Energy Transformation Program established under sections 8004 and 8005 of this title.

Sec. 2. 30 V.S.A. § 8004 is amended to read:

§ 8004. ~~RENEWABLE PORTFOLIO STANDARDS FOR SALES OF ELECTRIC ENERGY; RENEWABLE ENERGY STANDARD AND ENERGY TRANSFORMATION (RESET) PROGRAM~~

(a) ~~Except as otherwise provided in section 8005 of this title, in order for Vermont retail electricity providers to achieve the goals established in section 8001 of this title, no Establishment; requirements. The RESET Program is established. Under this program, a retail electricity provider shall not sell or otherwise provide or offer to sell or provide electricity in the State of Vermont without ownership of sufficient energy produced by renewable resources as described in this chapter, energy plants or sufficient tradeable renewable energy credits from plants whose energy is capable of delivery in New England that reflect the required amounts of renewable energy as provided for in subsection (b) of this set forth in section 8005 of this title or without support of energy transformation projects in accordance with that section. In the case of members of the Vermont Public Power Supply Authority, the requirements of this chapter may be met in the aggregate.~~

(b) ~~Each retail electricity provider in Vermont shall provide a certain amount of new renewable resources in its portfolio. Subject to subdivision 8005(d)(1) of this title each retail electricity provider in Vermont shall supply an amount of energy equal to its total incremental energy growth between January 1, 2005 and January 1, 2012 through the use of electricity generated by new renewable resources. The A retail electricity provider may meet this requirement the required amounts of renewable energy through eligible new tradeable renewable energy credits, new eligible renewable energy resources with renewable energy credits environmental attributes still attached, or a combination of those credits and resources. No retail electricity provider shall be required to provide in excess of a total of 10 percent of its calendar year 2005 retail electric sales with electricity generated by new renewable resources.~~

(c) ~~The requirements of subsection (b) of this section shall apply to all retail electricity providers in this State, unless the retail electricity provider demonstrates and the Board determines that compliance with the standard would impair the provider's ability to meet the public's need for energy services after safety concerns are addressed, at the lowest present value life cycle cost, including environmental and economic costs.~~

(d)(b) Rules; procedures. ~~The Board shall provide, by order or rule, adopt the regulations and rules or procedures that are necessary to allow the Board~~

and the Department to implement and supervise further the implementation and maintenance of ~~a renewable portfolio standard~~ the RESET program.

(c) RECS; banking. The Board shall allow a provider that has met the required amount of renewable energy in a given year, commencing with 2017, to retain tradeable renewable energy credits created or purchased in excess of that amount for application to the provider's required amount of renewable energy in one of the following three years.

~~(e)(d) Alternative compliance payment. In lieu of, or in addition to purchasing renewable energy or tradeable renewable energy credits or supporting energy transformation projects to satisfy the portfolio requirements of this section and section 8005 of this title, a retail electricity provider in this State may pay to the Vermont Clean Energy Development Fund established under section 8015 of this title an amount per kWh as established by the Board an alternative compliance payment at the applicable rate set forth in section 8005. As an alternative, the Board may require any proportion of this amount to be paid to the Energy Conservation Fund established under subsection 209(d) of this title.~~

(e) VPPSA members. In the case of members of the Vermont Public Power Supply Authority, the requirements of this chapter may be met in the aggregate.

(f) Joint efforts. Retail electricity providers may engage in joint efforts to meet one or more categories within the RESET program.

~~(f) Before December 30, 2007 and biennially thereafter through December 30, 2013, the Board shall file a report with the Senate Committees on Finance and on Natural Resources and Energy and the House Committees on Commerce and on Natural Resources and Energy. The report shall include the following:~~

~~(1) the total cumulative growth in electric energy usage in Vermont from 2005 through the end of the year that precedes the date on which the report is due;~~

~~(2) a report on the market for tradeable renewable energy credits, including the prices at which credits are being sold;~~

~~(3) a report on the SPEED program, and any projects using the program;~~

~~(4) a summary of other contracts held or projects developed by Vermont retail electricity providers that are likely to be eligible under the provisions of subsection 8005(d) of this title;~~

~~(5) an estimate of potential effects on rates, economic development, and jobs, if the target established in subsection 8005(d) of this section is met, and if it is not met;~~

~~(6) an assessment of the supply portfolios of Vermont retail electricity providers, and the resources available to meet new supply requirements likely to be triggered by the expiration of major power supply contracts;~~

~~(7) an assessment of the energy efficiency and renewable energy markets and recommendations to the legislature regarding strategies that may be necessary to encourage the use of these resources to help meet upcoming supply requirements;~~

~~(8) any recommendations for statutory change related to this section, including recommendations for rewarding utilities that make substantial investments in SPEED resources; and~~

~~(9) the Board's recommendations on how the State might best continue to meet the goals established in section 8001 of this title, including whether the State should meet its growth in energy usage over the succeeding 10 years by a continuation of the SPEED program.~~

Sec. 3. 30 V.S.A. § 8005 is amended to read:

§ 8005. ~~SUSTAINABLY PRICED ENERGY ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT (SPEED) PROGRAM;~~ RESET PROGRAM CATEGORIES

~~(a) Creation. To achieve the goals of section 8001 of this title, there is created the Sustainably Priced Energy Enterprise Development (SPEED) program.~~

~~(b) Board; powers and duties. The SPEED program shall be established, by rule, order, or contract, by the Board. As part of the SPEED program, the Board may, and in the case of subdivisions (1), (2), and (5) of this subsection, shall:~~

~~(1) Name one or more entities to become engaged in the purchase and resale of electricity generated within the State by means of SPEED resources. An entity appointed under this subdivision shall be known as a SPEED Facilitator.~~

~~(2) Issue standard offers for SPEED resources in accordance with section 8005a of this title.~~

~~(3) Maximize the benefit to rate payers from the sale of tradeable renewable energy credits or other credits that may be developed in the future;~~

~~especially with regard to those plants that accept the standard offer issued under subdivision (2) of this subsection.~~

~~(4) Encourage retail electricity provider and third party developer sponsorship and partnerships in the development of renewable energy projects.~~

~~(5) In accordance with section 8005a of this section, require all Vermont retail electricity providers to purchase from the SPEED Facilitator the power generated by the plants that accept the standard offer required to be issued under section 8005a. For the purpose of this subdivision (5), the Board and the SPEED Facilitator constitute instrumentalities of the State.~~

~~(6) Establish a method for Vermont retail electrical providers to obtain beneficial ownership of the renewable energy credits associated with any SPEED projects, in the event that a renewable portfolio standard comes into effect under the provisions of section 8004 of this title. It shall be a condition of a standard offer required to be issued under subdivision (2) of this subsection that tradeable renewable energy credits associated with a plant that accepts the standard offer are owned by the retail electric providers purchasing power from the plant, except that in the case of a plant using methane from agricultural operations, the plant owner shall retain such credits to be sold separately at the owner's discretion.~~

~~(7) [Repealed.]~~

~~(8) Provide that in any proceeding under subdivision 248(a)(2)(A) of this title for the construction of a renewable energy plant, a demonstration of compliance with subdivision 248(b)(2) of this title, relating to establishing need for the plant, shall not be required if the plant is a SPEED resource and if no part of the plant is financed directly or indirectly through investments, other than power contracts, backed by Vermont electricity ratepayers.~~

~~(9) Take such other measures as the Board finds necessary or appropriate to implement SPEED.~~

~~(e) VEDA; eligible facilities. Developers of in-state SPEED resources shall be entitled to classification as an eligible facility under 10 V.S.A. chapter 12, relating to the Vermont Economic Development Authority.~~

~~(d) Goals and targets. To advance the goals stated in section 8001 of this title, the following goals and targets are established.~~

~~(1) 2012 SPEED goal. The Board shall meet on or before January 1, 2012 and open a proceeding to determine the total amount of SPEED resources that have been supplied to Vermont retail electricity providers or have been issued a certificate of public good. If the Board finds that the amount of~~

~~SPEED resources coming into service or having been issued a certificate of public good after January 1, 2005 and before July 1, 2012 equals or exceeds total statewide growth in electric retail sales during that time, and in addition, at least five percent of the 2005 total statewide electric retail sales is provided by SPEED resources or would be provided by SPEED resources that have been issued a certificate of public good, or if it finds that the amount of SPEED resources equals or exceeds 10 percent of total statewide electric retail sales for calendar year 2005, the portfolio standards established under this chapter shall not be in force. The Board shall make its determination by January 1, 2013. If the Board finds that the goal established has not been met, one year after the Board's determination the portfolio standards established under subsection 8004(b) of this title shall take effect.~~

~~(2) 2017 SPEED goal. A State goal is to assure that 20 percent of total statewide electric retail sales during the year commencing January 1, 2017 shall be generated by SPEED resources that constitute new renewable energy. On or before January 31, 2018, the Board shall meet and open a proceeding to determine, for the calendar year 2017, the total amount of SPEED resources that were supplied to Vermont retail electricity providers and the total amount of statewide retail electric sales.~~

~~(3) Determinations. For the purposes of the determinations to be made under subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subsection (d), the total amount of SPEED resources shall be the amount of electricity produced at SPEED resources owned by or under long-term contract to Vermont retail electricity providers that is new renewable energy.~~

~~(a) Categories. This section specifies three categories of required resources to meet the requirements of the RESET Program established in section 8004 of this title: total renewable energy, distributed renewable generation, and energy transformation.~~

~~(4)(1) Total renewables targets renewable energy. This~~

~~(A) Purpose; establishment. To encourage the economic and environmental benefits of renewable energy, this subdivision establishes, as percentages of annual electric sales, target for the RESET program, minimum total amounts of total renewable energy within the supply portfolio of each retail electricity provider. To satisfy this requirement, a provider may use renewable energy with environmental attributes attached or any class of tradeable renewable energy credits generated by any renewable energy plant whose energy is capable of delivery in New England.~~

~~(A)(B) Required amounts. The target amounts of total renewable energy established required by this subsection shall be 55 percent of each retail~~

electricity provider's annual retail electric sales during the year beginning on January 1, 2017, increasing by an additional four percent each third January 1 thereafter, until reaching 75 percent on and after January 1, 2032.

~~(B) Each retail electricity provider shall manage its supply portfolio to be reasonably consistent with the target amounts established by this subdivision (4). The Board shall consider such consistency during the course of reviewing a retail electricity provider's charges and rates under this title, integrated resource plans under section 218c of this title, and petitions under section 248 (new gas and electric purchases, investments, and facilities) of this title.~~

(C) Relationship to other categories. Distributed renewable generation used to meet the requirements of subdivision (2) of this subsection shall also count toward the requirements of this subdivision. However, an energy transformation project under subdivision (3) of this subsection shall not count toward the requirements of this subdivision.

(2) Distributed renewable generation.

(A) Purpose; establishment. This subsection establishes a distributed renewable generation category for the RESET program. This category encourages the use of distributed generation to support the reliability of the State's electric system; reduce line losses; contribute to avoiding or deferring improvements to that system necessitated by transmission or distribution constraints; and diversify the size and type of resources connected to that system. This category requires the use of renewable energy for these purposes to reduce environmental and health impacts from air emissions that would result from using other forms of generation.

(B) Definition. As used in this section, "distributed renewable generation" means one of the following:

(i) a renewable energy plant that is new renewable energy; has a plant capacity of five MW or less; and

(I) is directly connected to the subtransmission or distribution system of a Vermont retail electricity provider; or

(II) is directly connected to the transmission system of an electric company required to submit a Transmission System Plan under subsection 218c(d) of this title, if the plant is part of a plan approved by the Board to avoid or defer a transmission system improvement needed to address a transmission system reliability deficiency identified and analyzed in that Plan; or

(ii) a net metering system approved under the former section 219a or under section 8010 of this title if the system is new renewable energy and the interconnecting retail electricity provider owns and retires the system's environmental attributes.

(C) Required amounts. The required amounts of distributed renewable generation shall be one percent of each retail electricity provider's annual retail electric sales during the year beginning January 1, 2017, increasing by an additional three-fifths of a percent each subsequent January 1 until reaching 10 percent on and after January 1, 2032.

(D) Distributed generation greater than five MW. On petition of a retail electricity provider, the Board may for a given year allow the provider to employ energy with environmental attributes attached or tradeable renewable energy credits from a renewable energy plant with a plant capacity greater than five MW to satisfy the distributed renewable generation requirement if the plant would qualify as distributed renewable generation but for its plant capacity and the provider demonstrates that it is unable during that year to meet the requirement solely with qualifying renewable energy plants of five MW or less. To demonstrate this inability, the provider shall issue one or more requests for proposals, and show that it is unable to obtain sufficient ownership of environmental attributes to meet its required amount under this subdivision (2) from:

(i) the construction and interconnection to its system of distributed renewable generation that is consistent with its approved least-cost integrated resource plan under section 218c of this title at a cost less than or equal to the sum of the applicable alternative compliance payment rate and the applicable rates published by the Department under the Board's rules implementing subdivision 209(a)(8) of this title; and

(ii) purchase of tradeable renewable energy credits for distributed renewable generation at a cost that is less than the applicable alternative compliance rate.

(3) Energy transformation.

(A) Purpose; establishment. This subsection establishes an energy transformation category for the RESET program. This category encourages Vermont retail electricity providers to support additional distributed renewable generation or to support other projects to reduce fossil fuel consumed by their customers and the emission of greenhouse gases attributable to that consumption. A retail electricity provider may satisfy the energy transformation requirement through distributed renewable generation in addition to the generation used to satisfy subdivision (a)(2) of this section or

energy transformation projects or a combination of such generation and projects.

(B) Required amounts. For the energy transformation category, the required amounts shall be two percent of each retail electricity provider's annual retail electric sales during the year beginning January 1, 2017, increasing by an additional two-thirds of a percent each subsequent January 1 until reaching 12 percent on and after January 1, 2032.

(C) Eligibility criteria. For an energy transformation project to be eligible under this subdivision (a)(3):

(i) implementation of the project shall have commenced on or after January 1, 2015; and

(ii) the project shall:

(I) over its life, result in a net reduction in fossil fuel consumed by the provider's customers and in the emission of greenhouse gases attributable to that consumption, whether or not the fuel is supplied by the provider;

(II) meet the need for its goods or services at the lowest present value life cycle cost, including environmental and economic costs; and

(III) cost the utility less per MWH than the applicable alternative compliance payment rate.

(D) Conversion. For the purpose of determining eligibility and the application of the energy transformation project to a provider's annual requirement, the provider shall convert the net reduction in fossil fuel consumption resulting from the energy transformation project to a MWH equivalent of electric energy, in accordance with rules or procedures adopted by the Board. The conversion shall use the most recent year's approximate heat rate for electricity net generation from the total fossil fuels category as reported by the U.S. Energy Information Administration in its Monthly Energy Review. If an energy transformation project is funded by more than one regulated entity, the Board shall prorate the reduction in fossil fuel consumption among the regulated entities. In this subdivision (D), "regulated entity" includes each provider and each efficiency entity appointed under subsection 209(d) of this title.

(E) Other sources.

(i) A retail electricity provider or a provider's partner may oversee an energy transformation project under this subdivision (3). However, the provider shall deliver the project's goods or services in partnership with

persons other than the provider unless exclusive delivery through the provider is more cost-effective than delivery by another person or there is no person other than the provider with the expertise or capability to deliver the goods or services.

(ii) An energy transformation project may provide incremental support to a program authorized under Vermont statute that meets the eligibility criteria of this subdivision (3) but may take credit only for the additional amount of service supported and shall not take credit for that program's regularly budgeted or approved investments.

(F) Implementation. To carry out this subdivision (3), the Board shall adopt rules or procedures:

(i) For the conversion methodology in accordance with subdivision (3)(D) of this subsection (a).

(ii) To provide a process for prior approval of energy transformation projects by the Board or its designee. This process shall ensure that each of these projects meets the requirements of this subdivision (3) and need not consist of individual review of each energy transformation project prior to implementation as long as the mechanism ensures those requirements are met. An energy transformation project that commenced prior to initial adoption of rules or procedures under this subdivision (F) may seek approval after such adoption.

(iii) For cost-effectiveness screening of energy transformation projects. This screening shall be consistent with the provisions of this subdivision (3) and, as applicable, the screening tests developed under subsections 209(d) (energy efficiency) and 218c(a) (least-cost integrated planning) of this title.

(iv) To allow a provider who has met its required amount under this subdivision (3) in a given year to apply excess net reduction in fossil fuel consumption, expressed as a MWH equivalent, from its energy transformation project or projects during that year toward the provider's required amount in a future year.

(v) To ensure periodic evaluation of an energy transformation project's claimed fossil fuel reductions, avoided greenhouse gas emissions, conversion to MWH equivalent, cost-effectiveness and, if applicable, energy savings, and to ensure annual verification and auditing of a provider's claims regarding project completion and resulting MWH equivalent. Changes to project claims resulting from periodic evaluations shall not reduce retroactively claims made on behalf of a project approved under subdivision (3)(F)(ii) of

this subsection (a) or reduce verified claims carried forward under subdivision (3)(F)(iv) of this subsection (a).

(vi) To ensure that all ratepayers have an equitable opportunity to participate in, and benefit from, energy transformation projects regardless of rate class, income level, or provider service territory.

(vii) To ensure the coordinated delivery of energy transformation projects with the delivery of similar services, including low-income weatherization programs, entities that fund and support affordable housing, energy efficiency programs delivered under section 209 of this title, and other energy efficiency programs delivered locally or regionally within the State.

(viii) To ensure that, if an energy transformation project will increase the use of electric energy, the project incorporates best practices for demand management and will use technologies appropriate for Vermont.

(ix) To provide a process under which a provider may withdraw from or terminate, in an orderly manner, an ongoing energy transformation project that no longer meets the eligibility criteria because of one or more factors beyond the control of the project and the provider.

(G) Petitions. On petition of a retail electricity provider in any given year, the Board may:

(i) reduce the provider's required amount under this subdivision (3) for that year, without penalty or alternative compliance payment, if the Board finds that strict compliance with the required amount for that year will:

(I) cause the provider to increase significantly its retail rates; or

(II) materially impair the provider's ability to meet the public's need for energy services after safety concerns are addressed, in the manner set forth in subdivision 218c(a)(1) (least-cost integrated planning) of this title; or

(ii) allow a provider who failed to achieve the required amount under this subdivision (3) during the preceding year to avoid paying the alternative compliance payment if the Board:

(I) finds that the provider made a good faith effort to achieve the required amount and its failure to achieve that amount resulted from market factors beyond its control; and

(II) directs that the provider add the difference between the required amount and the provider's actually achieved amount for that year to its required amount for one or more future years.

(4) Alternative compliance rates.

(A) The alternative compliance payment rates for the categories established by this subsection (a) shall be:

(i) total renewable energy requirement – \$0.01 per kWh; and

(ii) distributed renewable generation and energy transformation requirements – \$0.06 per kWh.

(B) The Board shall adjust these rates for inflation annually commencing January 1, 2018, using the CPI.

(b) Reduced amounts; providers; 100 percent renewable.

(1) The provisions of this subsection shall apply to a retail electricity provider that:

(A) as of January 1, 2015, was entitled, through contract, ownership of energy produced by its own generation plants, or both, to an amount of renewable energy equal to or more than 100 percent of its anticipated total retail electric sales in 2017, regardless of whether the provider owned the environmental attributes of that renewable energy; and

(B) commencing on January 1, 2017, owns and has retired tradeable renewable energy credits monitored and traded on the New England Generation Information System or otherwise approved by the Board equivalent to 100 percent of the provider's total retail sales of electricity, calculated as an average on an annual basis.

(2) A provider meeting the requirements of subdivision (1) of this subsection may:

(A) satisfy the distributed renewable generation requirement of this section by accepting net metering systems within its service territory pursuant to the provisions of this title that govern net metering; and

(B) if the Board has appointed the provider as an energy efficiency entity under subsection 209(d) of this title, propose to the Board to reduce the energy transformation requirement that would otherwise apply to the provider under this section.

(i) The provider may make and the Board may review such a proposal in connection with a periodic submission made by the provider pursuant to its appointment under subsection 209(d) of this title.

(ii) The Board may approve a proposal under this subdivision (B) if it finds that:

(I) the energy transformation requirement that would otherwise apply under this section exceeds the achievable potential for cost-effective

energy transformation projects in the provider's service territory that meet the eligibility criteria for these projects under this section; and

(II) the reduced energy transformation requirement proposed by the provider is not less than the amount sufficient to ensure the provider's deployment or support of energy transformation projects that will acquire that achievable potential.

(iii) The measure of cost-effectiveness under this subdivision (B) shall be the alternative compliance payment rate established in this section for the energy transformation requirement.

(c) Biomass.

(1) Distributed renewable generation that employs biomass to produce electricity shall be eligible to count toward a provider's distributed renewable generation or energy transformation requirement only if the plant produces both electricity and thermal energy from the same biomass fuel and the majority of the energy recovered from the plant is thermal energy.

(2) Distributed renewable generation and energy transformation projects that employ forest biomass to produce energy shall comply with renewability standards adopted by the Commissioner of Forests, Parks and Recreation under 10 V.S.A. § 2751.

(d) Hydropower. A hydroelectric renewable energy plant shall be eligible to satisfy the distributed renewable generation or energy transformation requirement only if, in addition to meeting the definition of distributed renewable generation, the plant:

(1) is and continues to be certified by the Low-impact Hydropower Institute of Portland, Maine; or

(2) after January 1, 1987, received a water quality certification pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1341 from the Agency of Natural Resources.

~~(e) Regulations and procedures. The Board shall provide, by order or rule, the regulations and procedures that are necessary to allow the Board and the Department to implement, and to supervise further the implementation and maintenance of the SPEED program. These rules shall assure that decisions with respect to certificate of public good applications for construction of SPEED resources shall be made in a timely manner.~~

~~(f) Preapproval. In order to encourage joint efforts on the part of regulated companies to purchase power that meets or exceeds the SPEED standards and to secure stable, long-term contracts beneficial to Vermonters, the Board may~~

~~establish standards for pre-approving the recovery of costs incurred on a SPEED project that is the subject of that joint effort.~~

~~(g) State; nonliability. The State and its instrumentalities shall not be liable to a plant owner or retail electricity provider with respect to any matter related to SPEED, including costs associated with a standard offer contract under this section or section 8005a of this title or any damages arising from breach of such a contract, the flow of power between a plant and the electric grid, or the interconnection of a plant to that grid.~~

~~(h) (n) [Repealed.]~~

Sec. 4. 30 V.S.A. § 8005a is amended to read:

§ 8005a. ~~SPEED~~; STANDARD OFFER PROGRAM

(a) Establishment. A standard offer program is established ~~within the SPEED program~~. To achieve the goals of section 8001 of this title, the Board shall issue standard offers for renewable energy plants that meet the eligibility requirements of this section. The Board shall implement these standard offers ~~through the SPEED facilitator~~ by rule, order, or contract and shall appoint a Standard Offer Facilitator to assist in this implementation. For the purpose of this section, the Board and the Standard Offer Facilitator constitute instrumentalities of the State.

* * *

(k) Executed standard offer contracts; transferability; allocation of benefits and costs. With respect to executed contracts for standard offers under this section:

(1) A contract shall be transferable. The contract transferee shall notify the ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator of the contract transfer within 30 days of transfer.

(2) The ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator shall distribute the electricity purchased to the Vermont retail electricity providers at the price paid to the plant owners, allocated to the providers based on their pro rata share of total Vermont retail kWh sales for the previous calendar year, and the Vermont retail electricity providers shall accept and pay the ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator for the electricity. However, during any given calendar year:

(A) Calculation of pro rata shares under this subdivision (2) shall include an adjustment in the allocation to a provider if one or more of the provider's customers created greenhouse gas reduction credits under section 8006a of this title that are used to reduce the size of the annual increase under subdivision (c)(1)(C)(adjustment; greenhouse gas reduction credits) of this

section. The adjustment shall ensure that any and all benefits or costs from the use of such credits flow to the provider whose customers created the credits. The savings that a provider realizes as a result of this application of greenhouse gas reduction credits shall be passed on proportionally to the customers that created the credits.

(B) A retail electricity provider shall be exempt and wholly relieved from the requirements of this subdivision ~~and subdivision 8005(b)(5) (requirement to purchase standard offer power)~~ of this title if, during the immediately preceding 12-month period ending October 31, the amount of renewable energy supplied to the provider by generation owned by or under contract to the provider, regardless of whether the provider owned the energy's environmental attributes, was not less than the amount of energy sold by the provider to its retail customers.

(3) The ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator shall transfer the environmental attributes, including any tradeable renewable energy credits, of electricity purchased under standard offer contracts to the Vermont retail electricity providers in accordance with their pro rata share of the costs for such electricity as determined under subdivision (2) of this subsection (k), except that in the case of a plant using methane from agricultural operations, the plant owner shall retain such attributes and credits to be sold separately at the owner's discretion. It shall be a condition of a standard offer issued under this section that tradeable renewable energy credits associated with a plant that accepts the standard offer are owned by the retail electricity providers purchasing power from the plant, except in the case of a plant using methane from agricultural operations.

(4) The ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator shall transfer all capacity rights attributable to the plant capacity associated with the electricity purchased under standard offer contracts to the Vermont retail electricity providers in accordance with their pro rata share of the costs for such electricity as determined under subdivision (2) of this subsection (k).

(5) All reasonable costs of a Vermont retail electricity provider incurred under this subsection shall be included in the provider's revenue requirement for purposes of ratemaking under sections 218, 218d, 225, and 227 of this title. In including such costs, the Board shall appropriately account for any credits received under subdivisions (3) and (4) of this subsection (k). Costs included in a retail electricity provider's revenue requirement under this subdivision ~~(5)~~ shall be allocated to the provider's ratepayers as directed by the ~~board~~ Board.

(1) ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator; expenses; payments. With respect to standard offers under this section, the Board shall ~~by rule or order~~:

(1) ~~Determine~~ determine a ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator's reasonable expenses arising from its role and the allocation of the expenses among plant owners and Vermont retail electricity providers;

(2) ~~Determine~~ determine the manner and timing of payments by a ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator to plant owners for energy purchased under an executed contract for a standard offer;

(3) ~~Determine~~ determine the manner and timing of payments to the ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator by the Vermont retail electricity providers for energy distributed to them under executed contracts for standard offers;

(4) ~~Establish~~ establish reporting requirements of a ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator, a plant owner, and a Vermont retail electricity provider.

* * *

(n) Wood biomass. ~~Wood~~ In addition to the other requirements of this section, wood biomass resources that would otherwise constitute qualifying ~~SPEED~~ resources may receive a standard offer under this section only if they have a design system efficiency (the sum of full load design thermal output and electric output divided by the heat input) of at least 50 percent.

* * *

(q) Allocation of regulatory costs. The Board and Department may authorize or retain legal counsel, official stenographers, expert witnesses, advisors, temporary employees, and research services in conjunction with implementing their responsibilities under this section. In lieu of allocating such costs pursuant to subsection 21(a) of this title, the Board or Department may allocate the expense in the same manner as the ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator's costs under subdivision (l)(1) of this section.

(r) State; nonliability. The State and its instrumentalities shall not be liable to a plant owner or retail electricity provider with respect to any matter related to the standard offer program, including costs associated with a standard offer contract or any damages arising from the breach of such a contract, the flow of power between a plant and the electric grid, or the interconnection of a plant to that grid.

Sec. 5. INTENT; AMENDMENT OF 30 V.S.A. § 8005a

The General Assembly's intent in the amendments to 30 V.S.A. § 8005a set forth in Sec. 4 of this act is to clarify the text because of the repeal of the Sustainably Priced Energy Enterprise Development Program in Sec. 3 of this act and to move provisions relating to the standard offer program from 30 V.S.A. § 8005 into section 8005a. The General Assembly does not intend

any provision of this act to be interpreted as a substantive change to the standard offer program. The Standard Offer Facilitator described in Sec. 4 of this act shall be the successor to the SPEED Facilitator under 30 V.S.A. §§ 8005 and 8005a as they existed prior to this act.

Sec. 6. 30 V.S.A. § 8005b is amended to read:

§ 8005b. RENEWABLE ENERGY PROGRAMS; ~~BIENNIAL REPORT~~

REPORTS

~~(a) On or before January 15, 2013 and no later than every second January 15 thereafter through January 15, 2033, the Board~~ The Department shall file a report reports with the General Assembly in accordance with this section. The Board shall prepare the report in consultation with the Department.

(1) The House Committee on Commerce and Economic Development, the Senate Committee on Finance, and the House and Senate Committees on Natural Resources and Energy each shall receive a copy of these reports.

(2) The Department shall file the report under subsection (b) of this section annually each January 15 commencing in 2018 through 2033.

(3) The Department shall file the report under subsection (c) of this section biennially each March 1 commencing in 2017 through 2033.

(4) The provisions of 2 V.S.A. § 20(d) (expiration of required reports) shall not apply to the reports to be made under this section.

(b) The annual report under this section shall include at least each of the following:

(1) An assessment of the costs and benefits of the RESET Program based on the most current available data, including rate and economic impacts, customer savings, technology deployment, greenhouse gas emission reductions actually achieved, fuel price stability, and effect on transmission and distribution upgrade costs, and any recommended changes based on this assessment.

(2) An assessment of whether the requirements of the RESET Program have been met to date, and any recommended changes needed to achieve those requirements.

(c) The biennial report under this section shall include at least each of the following:

(1) The retail sales, in kWh, of electricity in Vermont during the two preceding calendar year years. The report shall include the statewide total and the total sold by each retail electricity provider.

(2) ~~The amount of SPEED resources~~ Commencing with the report to be filed in 2019, each retail electricity provider's required amount of renewable energy during the two preceding calendar years for each category of the RESET Program as set forth in section 8005 of this title.

(3) For the two preceding calendar years, the amounts of renewable energy and tradeable renewable energy credits eligible to satisfy the requirements of sections 8004 and 8005 of this title actually owned by the Vermont retail electricity providers, expressed as a percentage of retail kWh sales. The report shall include the statewide total and the total owned by each retail electricity provider for each of these amounts and shall discuss the progress of each provider toward achieving the goals and targets of subsection 8005(d)(SPEED) each of the categories set forth in section 8005 of this title. The report to be filed under this subsection on or before January 15, 2019 shall discuss and attach the Board's determination under subdivision 8005(d)(2)(2017 SPEED goal) of this title. The report shall summarize the energy transformation projects undertaken pursuant to section 8005 of this title, their costs and benefits, their claimed avoided fossil fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, and, if applicable, claimed energy savings.

~~(3) A summary of the activities of the SPEED program under section 8005 of this title, including the name, location, plant capacity, and average annual energy generation, of each SPEED resource within the program.~~

(4) A summary of the activities of the standard offer program under section 8005a of this title, including the number of plants participating in the program, the prices paid by the program, and the plant capacity and average annual energy generation of the participating plants. The report shall present this information as totals for all participating plants and by category of renewable energy technology. The report also shall identify the number of applications received, the number of participating plants under contract, and the number of participating plants actually in service.

(5) An assessment of the energy efficiency and renewable energy markets and recommendations to the General Assembly regarding strategies that may be necessary to encourage the use of these resources to help meet upcoming supply requirements.

(6) An assessment of whether Vermont retail electric rates are rising faster than inflation as measured by the CPI, and a comparison of Vermont's electric rates with electric rates in other New England states and in New York.

If statewide average rates have risen ~~more than 0.2 percentage points per year~~ faster than inflation over the preceding two or more years, the report shall include an assessment of the contributions to rate increases from various sources, such as the costs of energy and capacity, costs due to construction of transmission and distribution infrastructure, and costs due to compliance with the requirements of sections 8004 and 8005 (RESET program) and section 8005a (SPEED program; standard offer) of this title. Specific consideration shall be given to the price of renewable energy and the diversity, reliability, availability, dispatch flexibility, and full life cycle cost, including environmental benefits and greenhouse gas reductions, on a net present value basis of renewable energy resources available from suppliers. The report shall include any recommendations for statutory change that arise from this assessment. If electric rates have increased primarily due to cost increases attributable to nonrenewable sources of electricity or to the electric transmission or distribution systems, the report shall include a recommendation regarding whether to increase the size of the annual increase described in subdivision 8005a(c)(1)(standard offer; cumulative capacity; pace) of this title.

(7)(A) ~~An~~ Commencing with the report to be filed in 2019, an assessment of whether strict compliance with the requirements of sections 8004 and 8005 (RESET program) and section 8005a (SPEED program; standard offer) of this title:

(i) has caused one or more providers to raise its retail rates faster over the preceding two or more years than statewide average retail rates have risen over the same time period;

(ii) will cause retail rate increases particular to one or more providers; or

(iii) will impair the ability of one or more providers to meet the public's need for energy services in the manner set forth under subdivision 218c(a)(1) of this title (least-cost integrated planning).

(B) Based on this assessment, consideration of whether statutory changes should be made to grant providers additional flexibility in meeting requirements of sections 8004 and 8005 or section 8005a of this title.

(8) Any recommendations for statutory change related to sections 8004, 8005, and 8005a of this title.

(d) During the preparation of reports under this section, the Department shall provide an opportunity for the public to submit relevant information and recommendations.

Sec. 7. 30 V.S.A. § 8006 is amended to read:

§ 8006. TRADEABLE CREDITS; ENVIRONMENTAL ATTRIBUTES; RECOGNITION, MONITORING, AND DISCLOSURE

(a) The Board shall establish or adopt a system of tradeable renewable energy credits for renewable resources that may be earned by electric generation qualifying for the ~~renewables portfolio standard~~ RESET Program. The system shall ~~be designed to recognize tradeable renewable energy credits~~ monitored and traded on the New England Generation Information System (GIS); shall provide a process for the recognition, approval, and monitoring of environmental attributes attached to renewable energy that are eligible to satisfy the requirements of sections 8004 and 8005 of this title but are not monitored and traded on the GIS; and shall otherwise be consistent with regional practices.

(b) The Board shall ensure that all electricity provider and provider-affiliate disclosures and representations made with regard to a provider's portfolio are accurate and reasonably supported by objective data. Further, the Board shall ensure that providers disclose the types of generation used ~~and whether the energy is Vermont based~~, and shall clearly distinguish between energy or tradeable energy credits provided from renewable and nonrenewable energy sources and existing and new sources renewable energy.

Sec. 8. PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD RULEMAKING

(a) On or before August 1, 2015, the Public Service Board (the Board) shall commence a rulemaking proceeding to adopt initial rules to implement Secs. 2 (sales of electric energy; RESET Program), 3 (RESET Program categories), and 7 (tradeable renewable energy credits) of this act.

(b) On or before April 1, 2016, the Board shall submit final proposed rules under this section to the Secretary of State and the Legislative Committee on Administrative Rules pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 841.

(c) On or before July 1, 2016, the Board shall finally adopt initial rules to implement Secs. 2, 3, and 7 of this act to take effect on January 1, 2017. If the Board is unable to finally adopt these rules by July 1, 2016, the Board may issue an order by that date stating the requirements of the initial rules for the RESET program to take effect on January 1, 2017, if that order is followed by final adoption of those initial rules for this program prior to January 1, 2017. Initial rules finally adopted under this subsection (c) shall not be subject to the requirement of 3 V.S.A. § 843(c) to finally adopt rules within eight months of the initial filing.

(d) The Board and the Department of Public Service may retain experts and other personnel to assist them with the rulemaking under this section and allocate the costs of these personnel to the electric distribution utilities in accordance with the process under 30 V.S.A. § 21.

* * * Harvesting and Procurement * * *

Sec. 9. 10 V.S.A. § 2751 is added to read:

§ 2751. BIOMASS RENEWABILITY STANDARDS; RESET

PROGRAM

(a) Definitions. As used in this section:

(1) “Commissioner” means the Commissioner of Forests, Parks and Recreation.

(2) “Distributed renewable generation” shall have the same meaning as in 30 V.S.A. § 8005.

(3) “Energy transformation project” shall have the same meaning as in 30 V.S.A. § 8002.

(4) “Renewability” means capable of being replaced by natural ecological processes or sound management practices.

(5) “RESET Program” shall have the same meaning as in 30 V.S.A. § 8002.

(b) Rules. The Commissioner shall adopt rules that set renewability standards for forest products used to generate energy by distributed renewable generation and energy transformation projects within the RESET Program. The Commissioner shall design the standards to ensure long-term forest health and sustainability. These standards may include minimum efficiency requirements for wood boilers and requirements for harvesting and procurement. In developing these rules, the Commissioner shall consider differentiating the standards by type of forest product and scale of forest product consumption.

Sec. 10. FOREST, PARKS AND RECREATION RULEMAKING

On or before July 1, 2016, the Commissioner of Forests, Parks and Recreation shall adopt initial rules under 10 V.S.A. § 2751.

* * * Environmental Attributes, Net Metering Systems * * *

Sec. 11. 30 V.S.A. § 219a(h) is amended to read:

(h)(1) An electric company:

* * *

(I) ~~At the option of a net metering customer of the company, may~~ Shall receive ownership of the environmental attributes of electricity generated by the customer's net metering system, including ownership of any associated tradeable renewable energy credits, unless at the time of application for the system the customer elects not to transfer ownership of those attributes to the company. ~~If a customer elects this option, the~~ The company shall retain ownership of and shall retire the attributes and credits received from ~~the customer~~ its net metering customers, which shall apply toward compliance with ~~any statutes enacted or rules adopted by the State requiring the company to own the environmental attributes of renewable energy~~ sections 8004 and 8005 of this title.

* * *

Sec. 12. 30 V.S.A. § 8010(c) is amended to read:

(c) In accordance with this section, the Board shall adopt and implement rules that govern the installation and operation of net metering systems.

(1) The rules shall establish and maintain a net metering program that:

* * *

(F) balances, over time, the pace of deployment and cost of the program with the program's impact on rates; ~~and~~

(G) accounts for changes over time in the cost of technology; and

(H) allows a customer to retain ownership of the environmental attributes of energy generated by the customer's net metering system and of any associated tradeable renewable energy credits or to transfer those attributes and credits to the interconnecting retail provider, and:

(i) if the customer retains the attributes, reduces the value of the credit provided under this section for electricity generated by the customer's net metering system by an appropriate amount; and

(ii) if the customer transfers the attributes to the interconnecting provider, requires the provider to retain them for application toward compliance with sections 8004 and 8005 of this title.

(2) The rules shall include provisions that govern:

* * *

(E) the formation of group net metering systems, the resolution of disputes between group net metering customers and the interconnecting

provider, and the billing, crediting, and disconnection of group net metering customers by the interconnecting provider; and

(F) the amount of the credit to be assigned to each kWh of electricity generated by a net metering customer in excess of the electricity supplied by the interconnecting provider to the customer, the manner in which the customer's credit will be applied on the customer's bill, and the period during which a net metering customer must use the credit, after which the credit shall revert to the interconnecting provider; ~~and~~

~~(G) the ownership and transfer of the environmental attributes of energy generated by net metering systems and of any associated tradeable renewable energy credits. When assigning an amount of credit under this subdivision (F), the Board shall consider making multiple lengths of time available over which a customer may take a credit and differentiating the amount according to the length of time chosen. For example, a credit amount may be higher if taken over 10 years and lower if taken over 20 years. Factors relevant to this consideration shall include the customer's ability to finance the net metering system, the cost of that financing, and the net present value to all ratepayers of the net metering program.~~

* * *

* * * Clean Energy Development Fund * * *

Sec. 13. 30 V.S.A. § 8015 is amended to read:

§ 8015. VERMONT CLEAN ENERGY DEVELOPMENT FUND

* * *

(d) Expenditures authorized.

* * *

~~(3) A grant in lieu of a solar energy tax credit in accordance with 32 V.S.A. § 5930z(f). Of any Fund monies unencumbered by such grants, the first \$2.3 million shall fund the Small-scale Renewable Energy Incentive Program described in subdivision (1)(E)(ii) of this subsection.~~

~~(4) A sum equal to the cost for the 2010 and preceding tax years of the business solar energy income tax credits authorized in 32 V.S.A. §§ 5822(d) and 5930z(a), net of any such costs for which a transfer has already been made under this subdivision and of the cost of any credits in lieu of which the taxpayer elects to receive a grant, shall be transferred from the Clean Energy Development Fund to the General Fund. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this section, the Clean Energy Development Fund shall use all of~~

the monies from alternative compliance payments under sections 8004 and 8005 of this title for projects that meet the definition of “energy transformation project” under section 8002 of this title and the eligibility criteria for those projects under section 8005 of this title. The Fund shall implement projects in the service territory of the retail electricity provider or providers making the alternative compliance payments used to support the projects and, in the case of a project delivered in more than one territory, shall prorate service delivery according to each provider’s contribution. A provider shall not count, toward its required amount under the energy transformation category of section 8005 of this title, support provided by the Fund for an energy transformation project.

* * *

* * * Other Provisions * * *

Sec. 14. 10 V.S.A. § 212(6)(M) is amended to read:

(M) ~~Sustainably Priced Energy Enterprise Development (SPEED) resources~~ a renewable energy plant, as defined in 30 V.S.A. § 8002, if the construction of the plant requires a certificate of public good under 30 V.S.A. § 248 and all or part of the electricity generated by the plant will be under contract to a Vermont electric distribution utility;

Sec. 15. 30 V.S.A. § 209(j) is amended to read:

(j) Self-managed energy efficiency programs.

* * *

(4) All of the following shall apply to a class of programs under this subsection:

(A) A member of the transmission or industrial electric rate classes shall be eligible to apply to participate in the self-managed energy efficiency program class if the charges to the applicant, or to its predecessor in interest at the served property, under subdivision (d)(3) of this section were a minimum of \$1.5 million during calendar year 2008.

* * *

Sec. 16. 30 V.S.A. § 218(f) is amended to read:

(f) Regulatory incentives for renewable generation.

(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, an electric distribution utility subject to rate regulation under this chapter shall be entitled to recover in rates its prudently incurred costs in applying for and seeking any certificate, permit, or other regulatory approval issued or to be issued by federal, State, or local government for the construction of new renewable energy to be sited in

Vermont, regardless of whether the certificate, permit, or other regulatory approval ultimately is granted.

(2) The Board is authorized to provide to an electric distribution utility subject to rate regulation under this chapter an incentive rate of return on equity or other reasonable incentive on any capital investment made by such utility in a renewable energy generation facility sited in Vermont.

(3) To encourage joint efforts on the part of electric distribution utilities to support renewable energy and to secure stable, long-term contracts beneficial to Vermonters, the Board may establish standards for preapproving the recovery of costs incurred on a renewable energy plant that is the subject of that joint effort, if the construction of the plant requires a certificate of public good under section 248 of this title and all or part of the electricity generated by the plant will be under contract to the utilities involved in that joint effort.

(4) ~~For the purpose of~~ In this subsection, “plant,” “renewable energy,” and “new renewable energy” shall be as defined in section 8002 of this title.

Sec. 17. 30 V.S.A. § 218c(b) is amended to read:

(b) Each regulated electric or gas company shall prepare and implement a least cost integrated plan for the provision of energy services to its Vermont customers. At least every third year on a schedule directed by the Public Service Board, each such company shall submit a proposed plan to the Department of Public Service and the Public Service Board. The Board, after notice and opportunity for hearing, may approve a company’s least cost integrated plan if it determines that the company’s plan complies with the requirements of subdivision (a)(1) of this section and ~~is reasonably consistent with achieving the goals and targets of subsection 8005(d)(2017 SPEED goal; total renewables targets)~~ of sections 8004 and 8005 of this title.

Sec. 18. 30 V.S.A. § 219a(m) and (n) are amended to read:

(m)(1) A facility for the generation of electricity to be consumed primarily by the Military Department established under 3 V.S.A. § 212 and 20 V.S.A. § 361(a) or the National Guard as defined in 32 U.S.C. § 101(3), and installed on property of the Military Department or National Guard located in Vermont, shall be considered a net metering system for purposes of this section if it has a capacity of 2.2 MW or less and meets the provisions of subdivisions (a)(6)(B)-(D) of this section.

(2) If the interconnecting electric company agrees, a solar facility or group of solar facilities for the generation of electricity, to be installed by or on behalf of one or more municipalities on a closed landfill, shall be considered a net metering system for purposes of this section if the facility or group of

facilities has a total capacity of 5 MW or less and meets the provisions of subdivisions (a)(6)(B)-(D) of this section. The facilities or group of facilities may serve as a group net metering system that includes and is limited to each participating municipality. In this subdivision (2), "municipality" shall have the same meaning as under 24 V.S.A. § 4551.

* * *

(n) ~~As a pilot project, an~~ An electric cooperative under chapter 81 of this title may ~~construct~~ engage in a pilot project involving a solar generation facility or group of solar generation facilities to produce power to be consumed by the company or its customers and to be installed on land owned or leased by the company.

* * *

(3) ~~Under this pilot project, the electric cooperative may seek siting approval for the~~ A facility or group of facilities participating in this pilot project may seek siting approval pursuant to the Board's order issued under subsection 8007(b) of this title, notwithstanding that subsection's limitation to plants with a plant capacity greater than 150 kW and 2.2 MW or less.

* * *

Sec. 19. 30 V.S.A. § 248(b) is amended to read:

(b) Before the Public Service Board issues a certificate of public good as required under subsection (a) of this section, it shall find that the purchase, investment or construction:

* * *

(9) with respect to a waste to energy facility;

(A) is included in a solid waste management plan adopted pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 2202a, which is consistent with the State Solid Waste Management Plan; and

(B) is included in a solid waste management plan adopted pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 2202a for the municipality and solid waste district from which a substantial portion of the waste is to originate, if that municipality or district already beneficially uses a portion of the waste;

Sec. 20. 30 V.S.A. § 248(r) is added to read:

(r) The Board may provide that in any proceeding under subdivision (a)(2)(A) of this section for the construction of a renewable energy plant, a demonstration of compliance with subdivision (b)(2) of this section, relating to establishing need for the plant, shall not be required if all or part of the

electricity to be generated by the plant is under contract to one or more Vermont electric distribution companies and if no part of the plant is financed directly or indirectly through investments, other than power contracts, backed by Vermont electricity ratepayers. In this subsection, “plant” and “renewable energy” shall be as defined in section 8002 of this title.

Sec. 21. 30 V.S.A. § 8001(b) is amended to read:

(b) The Board shall ~~provide, by order or rule,~~ adopt the regulations rules and procedures that are necessary to allow the Board and the Department to implement and supervise programs pursuant to subchapter 1 of this chapter.

* * * Technical Amendments * * *

Sec. 22. 30 V.S.A. § 2(g) is amended to read:

(g) In all forums affecting policy and decision making for the New England region’s electric system, including matters before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the Independent System Operator of New England, the Department of Public Service shall advance positions that are consistent with the statutory policies and goals set forth in 10 V.S.A. §§ 578, 580, and 581 and sections 202a, 8001, 8004, and 8005 of this title. In those forums, the Department also shall advance positions that avoid or minimize adverse consequences to Vermont and its ratepayers from regional and inter-regional cost allocation for transmission projects. This subsection shall not compel the Department to initiate or participate in litigation and shall not preclude the Department from entering into agreements that represent a reasonable advance to these statutory policies and goals.

Sec. 23. 30 V.S.A. § 219a(e)(3)(C) is amended to read:

(C) Any accumulated credits shall be used within 12 months, or shall revert to the electric company, without any compensation to the customer. ~~Power reverting to the electric company under this subdivision (3) shall be considered SPEED resources under section 8005 of this title.~~

Sec. 24. REPEAL

30 V.S.A. § 219b(a)(5) (net metering systems; SPEED resources) is repealed.

Sec. 25. CONFORMING AMENDMENTS; RENEWABLE ENERGY DEFINITIONS

(a) In 2014 Acts and Resolves No. 99, Sec. 3, in 30 V.S.A. § 8002(8) (existing renewable energy) and (17) (new renewable energy), each occurrence of “December 31, 2004” is amended to “June 30, 2015.” The Office of

Legislative Council shall implement these amendments during statutory revision.

(b) 2014 Acts and Resolves No. 99, Sec. 3 is amended to read:

Sec. 3. 30 V.S.A. § 8002 is amended to read:

§ 8002. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

* * *

(21) “Renewable energy” means energy produced using a technology that relies on a resource that is being consumed at a harvest rate at or below its natural regeneration rate.

(A) For purposes of this subdivision (21), methane gas and other flammable gases produced by the decay of sewage treatment plant wastes or landfill wastes and anaerobic digestion of agricultural products, byproducts, or wastes, or of food wastes shall be considered renewable energy resources, but no other form of solid waste, other than ~~agricultural or silvicultural~~ waste, shall be considered renewable.

* * *

(24) “~~SPEED Standard Offer Facilitator~~” means an entity appointed by the Board pursuant to ~~subdivision 8005(b)(1)~~ subsection 8005a(a) of this title.

(25) “~~SPEED resources~~” ~~means contracts for resources in the SPEED program established under section 8005 of this title that meet the definition of renewable energy under this section, whether or not environmental attributes are attached.~~ [Repealed.]

* * *

(28) “Energy transformation project” means an undertaking that provides energy-related goods or services but does not include or consist of the generation of electricity and that results in a net reduction in fossil fuel consumption by the customers of a retail electricity provider and in the emission of greenhouse gases attributable to that consumption. Examples of energy transformation projects may include home weatherization or other thermal energy efficiency measures; air source or geothermal heat pumps; high efficiency heating systems; increased use of biofuels; biomass heating systems; support for transportation demand management strategies; support for electric vehicles or related infrastructure; and infrastructure for the storage of renewable energy on the electric grid.

(29) "RESET Program" means the Renewable Energy Standard and Energy Transformation Program established under sections 8004 and 8005 of this title.

Sec. 26. 30 V.S.A. § 8009 is amended to read:

§ 8009. BASELOAD RENEWABLE POWER PORTFOLIO REQUIREMENT

* * *

(f) With respect to a plant used to satisfy the baseload renewable power portfolio requirement:

(1) The ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator shall purchase the baseload renewable power, and shall allocate the electricity purchased and any associated costs ~~shall be allocated by the SPEED Facilitator~~ to the Vermont retail electricity providers based on their pro rata share of total Vermont retail kWh sales for the previous calendar year, and the Vermont retail electricity providers shall accept and pay those costs.

* * *

(i) The State and its instrumentalities shall not be liable to a plant owner or retail electricity provider with respect to any matter related to the baseload renewable power portfolio requirement or a plant used to satisfy such requirement, including costs associated with a contract related to such a plant or any damages arising from the breach of such a contract, the flow of power between a plant and the electric grid, or the interconnection of a plant to that grid. For the purpose of this section, the Board and the ~~SPEED~~ Standard Offer Facilitator constitute instrumentalities of the State.

* * * Severability and Effective Dates * * *

Sec. 27. SEVERABILITY

The provisions of this act are severable. If any provision of this act is invalid, or if any application of this act to any person or circumstance is invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application.

Sec. 28. EFFECTIVE DATES

(a) This section and Secs. 8 (Public Service Board rulemaking), 10 (Forests, Parks and Recreation rulemaking), 18 (net metering pilot project), and 27 (severability) shall take effect on passage. Notwithstanding 1 V.S.A. § 214, Sec. 18 shall apply to facilities for which an application for a certificate of public good is pending as of its effective date.

(b) Secs. 1 through 7, 9, 11, 13 through 17, and 19 through 26 shall take effect on July 1, 2015. Sec. 11 (net metering systems; environmental attributes) shall not apply to complete applications filed prior to its effective date.

(c) Sec. 12 (net metering systems; environmental attributes) shall amend 30 V.S.A. § 8010 as added effective January 1, 2017 by 2014 Acts and Resolves No. 99, Sec. 4. Sec. 12 shall take effect on January 2, 2017, except that, notwithstanding 1 V.S.A. § 214, the section shall apply to the Public Service Board process under 2014 Acts and Resolves No. 99, Sec. 5.

Rep. Masland of Thetford, for the committee on Ways and Means, recommended that the bill ought to pass when amended as recommended by the committee on Natural Resources and Energy and when further amended as follows:

First: After Sec. 14, by inserting Secs. 14a and 14b to read:

Sec. 14a. 30 V.S.A. § 209(d) is amended to read:

(d) Energy efficiency.

* * *

(3) Energy efficiency charge; regulated fuels. In addition to its existing authority, the Board may establish by order or rule a volumetric charge to customers for the support of energy efficiency programs that meet the requirements of section 218c of this title. The charge shall be known as the energy efficiency charge, shall be shown separately on each customer's bill, and shall be paid to a fund administrator appointed by the Board and deposited into an Electric Efficiency Fund. When such a charge is shown, notice as to how to obtain information about energy efficiency programs approved under this section shall be provided in a manner directed by the Board. This notice shall include, at a minimum, a toll-free telephone number, and to the extent feasible shall be on the customer's bill and near the energy efficiency charge.

(A) Balances in the Electric Efficiency Fund shall be ratepayer funds, shall be used to support the activities authorized in this subdivision, and shall be carried forward and remain in the Fund at the end of each fiscal year. These monies shall not be available to meet the general obligations of the State. Interest earned shall remain in the Fund. The Board will annually provide the General Assembly with a report detailing the revenues collected and the expenditures made for energy efficiency programs under this section. The provisions of 2 V.S.A. § 20(d) (expiration of required reports) shall not apply to the report to be made under this subsection.

(B) The charge established by the Board pursuant to this subdivision (3) shall be in an amount determined by the Board by rule or order that is consistent with the principles of least cost integrated planning as defined in section 218c of this title.

(i) As circumstances and programs evolve, the amount of the charge shall be reviewed for unrealized energy efficiency potential and shall be adjusted as necessary in order to realize all reasonably available, cost-effective energy efficiency savings. In setting the amount of the charge and its allocation, the Board shall determine an appropriate balance among the following objectives; provided, however, that particular emphasis shall be accorded to the first four of these objectives: reducing the size of future power purchases; reducing the generation of greenhouse gases; limiting the need to upgrade the State's transmission and distribution infrastructure; minimizing the costs of electricity; reducing Vermont's total energy demand, consumption, and expenditures; providing efficiency and conservation as a part of a comprehensive resource supply strategy; providing the opportunity for all Vermonters to participate in efficiency and conservation programs; and targeting efficiency and conservation efforts to locations, markets, or customers where they may provide the greatest value. However, in no event shall an energy efficiency charge imposed prior to February 1, 2018 exceed the following rates:

(I) residential customer – \$0.01173 per kilowatt hour (kWh);

(II) commercial customer, no demand charge – \$0.0108 per kWh;

(III) commercial customer, demand charge – \$0.00648 per kWh plus \$1.0543 per kilowatt (kW);

(IV) industrial customer, no demand charge – \$0.00719 per kWh; and

(V) industrial customers, demand charge – \$0.00484 per kWh plus \$1.1344 per kW.

(ii) The Board, by rule or order, shall establish a process by which a customer who pays an average annual energy efficiency charge under this subdivision (3) of at least \$5,000.00 may apply to the Board to self-administer energy efficiency through the use of an energy savings account which shall contain a percentage of the customer's energy efficiency charge payments as determined by the Board. The remaining portion of the charge shall be used for systemwide energy benefits. The Board in its rules or order shall establish criteria for approval of these applications.

Sec. 14b. JOINT ENERGY COMMITTEE; RECOMMENDATION

(a) On or before February 15, 2016, the Joint Energy Committee under 2 V.S.A. chapter 17 shall submit a recommendation to the House Committee on Commerce and Economic Development, Senate Committee on Finance, House Committee on Ways and Means, and House and Senate Committees on Natural Resources and Energy on:

(1) whether the General Assembly should make permanent or revise the cap on energy efficiency charge rates adopted under Sec. 14a of this act, 30 V.S.A. § 209(d), or allow that cap to expire in 2018; and

(2) what legislation, if any, the Committee recommends that the General Assembly enact to clarify or alter the relationship of energy efficiency entities and charges under 30 V.S.A. § 209(d) with the energy transformation category adopted under Sec. 3 of this act, 30 V.S.A. § 8005(a).

(b) Prior to submitting its recommendation under this section, the Joint Energy Committee shall offer an opportunity for comment by affected State agencies; utilities; appointed energy efficiency entities; advocates for business, consumer, and environmental interests; and members of the public.

(c) For the purpose of this section, the Joint Energy Committee may meet no more than four times during adjournment without prior approval of the Speaker of the House and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate.

Second: In Sec. 28 (effective dates), by striking out subsections (a) and (b) and inserting in lieu thereof:

(a) This section and Secs. 8 (Public Service Board rulemaking), 10 (Forests, Parks and Recreation rulemaking), 14a (energy efficiency charge), 14b (joint energy committee; recommendation), 18 (net metering pilot project), and 27 (severability) shall take effect on passage. Notwithstanding 1 V.S.A. § 214, Sec. 18 shall apply to facilities for which an application for a certificate of public good is pending as of its effective date.

(b) Secs. 1 through 7, 9, 11, 13, 14, 15 through 17, and 19 through 26 shall take effect on July 1, 2015. Sec. 11 (net metering systems; environmental attributes) shall not apply to complete applications filed prior to its effective date.

Recess

At ten o'clock and thirty-one minutes in the forenoon, the Speaker declared a recess until the fall of the gavel.

At ten o'clock and fifty-seven minutes in the forenoon, the Speaker called the House to order.

**Consideration Resumed; Bill Read the Second Time;
Consideration Interrupted by Recess****H. 40**

Consideration resumed on House bill, entitled

An act relating to establishing a renewable energy standard and energy transformation program

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time and the recommendation of amendment offered by the committee on Ways and Means was agreed to.

Pending the question, Shall the bill be amended as recommended by the committee on Natural Resources and Energy, as amended? **Rep. Klein of East Montpelier** demanded the yeas and nays, which demand was sustained by the Constitutional number.

Pending the call of the roll, the Speaker declared a recess until the fall of the gavel.

At eleven o'clock and thirty minutes in the forenoon, the Speaker call the House to order.

**Consideration Resumed; Consideration Interrupted by Recess;
Consideration Resumed; Bill Amended and Third Reading Ordered****H. 40**

Consideration resumed on House bill, entitled

An act relating to establishing a renewable energy standard and energy transformation program

Thereupon, the Clerk proceeded to call the roll and the question, Shall the bill be amended as recommended by the committee on Natural Resources and Energy, as further amended by the committee on Ways and Means? was decided in the affirmative. Yeas, 127. Nays, 11.

Those who voted in the affirmative are:

Ancel of Calais
Bancroft of Westford

Bartholomew of Hartland
Baser of Bristol

Batchelor of Derby
Beck of St. Johnsbury

Berry of Manchester	Gage of Rutland City	Myers of Essex
Beyor of Highgate	Gamache of Swanton	Nuovo of Middlebury
Bissonnette of Winooski	Gonzalez of Winooski	Olsen of Londonderry
Botzow of Pownal	Grad of Moretown	O'Sullivan of Burlington
Branagan of Georgia	Graham of Williamstown	Parent of St. Albans City
Briglin of Thetford	Greshin of Warren	Partridge of Windham
Burditt of West Rutland	Haas of Rochester	Patt of Worcester
Burke of Brattleboro	Head of South Burlington	Pearce of Richford
Buxton of Tunbridge	Hebert of Vernon	Pearson of Burlington
Canfield of Fair Haven	Helm of Fair Haven	Poirier of Barre City
Carr of Brandon	Higley of Lowell	Potter of Clarendon
Chesnut-Tangerman of Middletown Springs	Hooper of Montpelier	Pugh of South Burlington
Christie of Hartford	Huntley of Cavendish	Purvis of Colchester
Clarkson of Woodstock	Jewett of Ripton	Rachelson of Burlington
Cole of Burlington	Johnson of South Hero	Russell of Rutland City
Condon of Colchester	Juskiewicz of Cambridge	Ryerson of Randolph
Connor of Fairfield	Keenan of St. Albans City	Savage of Swanton
Conquest of Newbury	Klein of East Montpelier	Scheuermann of Stowe
Copeland-Hanzas of Bradford *	Krebs of South Hero	Sharpe of Bristol
Corcoran of Bennington	Krowinski of Burlington	Shaw of Pittsford
Cupoli of Rutland City	LaClair of Barre Town	Shaw of Derby
Dakin of Chester	Lalonde of South Burlington	Sheldon of Middlebury
Dakin of Colchester	Lanpher of Vergennes	Sibilia of Dover
Davis of Washington	Lawrence of Lyndon	Smith of New Haven
Deen of Westminster	Lenes of Shelburne	Stevens of Waterbury
Devereux of Mount Holly	Lewis of Berlin	Stuart of Brattleboro
Dickinson of St. Albans Town	Lippert of Hinesburg	Sullivan of Burlington
Donahue of Northfield	Long of Newfane	Sweaney of Windsor
Donovan of Burlington	Lucke of Hartford	Tate of Mendon
Eastman of Orwell	Macaig of Williston	Toleno of Brattleboro
Ellis of Waterbury	Manwaring of Wilmington	Toll of Danville
Emmons of Springfield	Marcotte of Coventry	Townsend of South Burlington
Fagan of Rutland City	Martin of Wolcott	Trieber of Rockingham
Feltus of Lyndon	Masland of Thetford	Troiano of Stannard
Fields of Bennington	McCormack of Burlington	Webb of Shelburne
Fiske of Enosburgh	McCullough of Williston	Woodward of Johnson
Forguites of Springfield	McFaun of Barre Town	Wright of Burlington
Frank of Underhill	Miller of Shaftsbury	Yantachka of Charlotte
French of Randolph	Morris of Bennington	Young of Glover
	Morrissey of Bennington	Zagar of Barnard
	Mrowicki of Putney	
	Murphy of Fairfax	

Those who voted in the negative are:

Brennan of Colchester	Martel of Waterford	Turner of Milton
Browning of Arlington *	Quimby of Concord	Van Wyck of Ferrisburgh
Komline of Dorset	Strong of Albany	Viens of Newport City
Lefebvre of Newark	Terenzini of Rutland Town	

Those members absent with leave of the House and not voting are:

Dame of Essex	Kitzmiller of Montpelier	Till of Jericho
Evans of Essex	McCoy of Poultney	Walz of Barre City
Hubert of Milton	O'Brien of Richmond	Willhoit of St. Johnsbury
Jerman of Essex	Ram of Burlington	

Rep. Browning of Arlington explained her vote as follows:

“Mr. Speaker:

I support the general goals of this bill. But I am not convinced that the full range of potential effects on rate payers has been independently analyzed. It is not wise to proceed with bold and innovative policies when the cost and financial impacts have not been fully developed. I thought this body had learned that lesson.”

Rep. Copeland Hanzas of Bradford explained her vote as follows:

“Mr. Speaker:

Investing in energy efficiency and distributed generation saves our environment, ensures we will need fewer swaths of high transmission power lines crossing our beautiful landscape and, perhaps most importantly, saves Vermonters precious dollars on their energy bill. It’s a win-win-win for Vermont.”

Thereupon, third reading was ordered.

**Committee Relieved of Consideration
and Bill Committed to Other Committee**

H. 289

Rep. Pugh of South Burlington moved that the committee on Human Services be relieved of House bill, entitled

An act relating to generic substitution for biological products

And that the bill be committed to the committee on Health Care, which was agreed to.

Message from the Senate No. 26

A message was received from the Senate by Mr. Marshall, its Assistant Secretary, as follows:

Mr. Speaker:

I am directed to inform the House that:

The Senate has on its part adopted Senate concurrent resolution of the following title:

S.C.R. 4. Senate concurrent resolution congratulating the First Presbyterian Church of Barre on its 125th anniversary.

The Senate has on its part adopted concurrent resolutions originating in the House of the following titles:

H.C.R. 47. House concurrent resolution congratulating the Rutland High School cheerleading team on its success in the National Cheerleaders Association's Junior-Senior High School National Competition.

H.C.R. 48. House concurrent resolution congratulating the Vermont Student Assistance Corporation on its 50th anniversary.

H.C.R. 49. House concurrent resolution congratulating Marcy Tanger on winning a 2014 NeighborWorks Dorothy Richardson Resident Leadership Award.

H.C.R. 50. House concurrent resolution in memory of Deryl J. Stowell.

H.C.R. 51. House concurrent resolution honoring the individuals memorialized in Weybridge's 2014 town report.

H.C.R. 52. House concurrent resolution recognizing Edgar Crosby of Bridport on the dedication of the 2014 Bridport Town Report in his honor, in tribute to his exemplary community service.

H.C.R. 53. House concurrent resolution in memory of Kenneth W. Sawyer and honoring his community service in the town of New Haven.

H.C.R. 54. House concurrent resolution designating February 25, 2015, as Teachers' Day at the State House.

H.C.R. 55. House concurrent resolution congratulating youth composer Ethan Duncan on the Vermont Symphony Orchestra's premier of his *A Year in Vermont*.

H.C.R. 56. House concurrent resolution honoring Richard Werner for his outstanding leadership of the Dover School Board.

H.C.R. 57. House concurrent resolution honoring Kathleen Bartlett as an outstanding educator.

H.C.R. 58. House concurrent resolution congratulating the Southwestern Vermont Council on Aging on its 40th anniversary.

H.C.R. 59. House concurrent resolution congratulating Lions Club International's District 45 on its 60th anniversary.

Adjournment

At twelve o'clock and eight minutes in the afternoon, on motion of **Rep. Turner of Milton**, the House adjourned until Tuesday, March 10, 2015, at ten o'clock in the forenoon, pursuant to the provisions of J.R.S.4.

Concurrent Resolutions Adopted

The following concurrent resolutions, having been placed on the Consent Calendar on the preceding legislative day, and no member having requested floor consideration as provided by Joint Rules of the Senate and House of Representatives, are hereby adopted in concurrence.

H.C.R. 47

House concurrent resolution congratulating the Rutland High School cheerleading team on its success in the National Cheerleaders Association's Junior-Senior High School National Competition;

H.C.R. 48

House concurrent resolution congratulating the Vermont Student Assistance Corporation on its 50th anniversary;

H.C.R. 49

House concurrent resolution congratulating Marcy Tanger on winning a 2014 NeighborWorks Dorothy Richardson Resident Leadership Award;

H.C.R. 50

House concurrent resolution in memory of Deryl J. Stowell;

H.C.R. 51

House concurrent resolution honoring the individuals memorialized in Weybridge's 2014 town report;

H.C.R. 52

House concurrent resolution recognizing Edgar Crosby of Bridport on the dedication of the 2014 Bridport Town Report in his honor, in tribute to his exemplary community service;

H.C.R. 53

House concurrent resolution in memory of Kenneth W. Sawyer and honoring his community service in the town of New Haven;

H.C.R. 54

House concurrent resolution designating February 25, 2015, as Teachers' Day at the State House;

H.C.R. 55

House concurrent resolution congratulating youth composer Ethan Duncan on the Vermont Symphony Orchestra's premier of his *A Year in Vermont*;

H.C.R. 56

House concurrent resolution honoring Richard Werner for his outstanding leadership of the Dover School Board;

H.C.R. 57

House concurrent resolution honoring Kathleen Bartlett as an outstanding educator;

H.C.R. 58

House concurrent resolution congratulating the Southwestern Vermont Council on Aging on its 40th anniversary;

H.C.R. 59

House concurrent resolution congratulating Lions Club International's District 45 on its 60th anniversary;

S.C.R. 4

Senate concurrent resolution congratulating the First Presbyterian Church of Barre on its 125th anniversary;

[The full text of the concurrent resolutions appeared in the House Calendar Addendum on the preceding legislative day and will appear in the Public Acts and Resolves of the 2015, seventy-third Biennial session.]